RECEIVED

Aug 26 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-42-03123
Appellate Case No. 2023-001752

MECO, Inc. of Augusta.
Appellant,

v.

Alex Sayed a/k/a Arshad M. Sayed a/k/a Arshed Sayed; NEPA Ventures LLC; NEPA Trading &
Investments, LLC.....
Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

/s/ Kyle B. Waddell

KYLE B. WADDELL (SC Bar No. 106095)

SCOTT W. KELLY (Admitted *pro hac vice*)

FULCHER HAGLER, LLP

Post Office Box 1477

Augusta, GA 30903

(706) 724-0171

kwaddell@fulcherlaw.com

skelly@fulcherlaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The three issues in this appeal are straightforward:

- (1) Are MECO's breach of contract claims barred by the three-year statute of limitation even though MECO filed its lawsuit less than three years after the last date MECO performed work under the Contract?
- (2) If MECO's claims would otherwise be barred, was the applicable limitations period tolled because Respondents were absent from the State and could not be located by MECO's former counsel?
- (3) Could the UCC's six-year statute of limitation apply to prevent dismissal here?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about a dispute over a contract between Appellant MECO, Inc. of Augusta ("MECO")¹ and Respondent Alex Sayed ("Sayed")² for MECO to provide and install gas station equipment at the Westar Travel Plaza. (See R. pp. 139-151 ("Contract").) Westar Travel Plaza was controlled by Sayed but owned by Respondent NEPA Ventures LLC ("NEPA Ventures"); yet another Sayed entity, Respondent NEPA Trading & Investments, LLC ("NEPA Trading"), financed the improvements. (See R. pp. 86-87 (email from Patriot Capital to alex@fuelonpa.com, addressed to "Arshed Sayed" and concerning "NEPA Trading & Investments LLC., DBA Westar Travel Plaza") & R. pp. 91-93 (email to DHEC referencing replacement of equipment "at the subject NEPA Ventures facility"); see also R. pp. 63 ("All three entities are either Mr. Sayed or owned by Mr. Sayed.")) MECO performed its work under the Contract through at least September 21, 2019, but was not paid the balance it was owed.

¹ For the Court's information, MECO is pronounced "Mekko."

² As noted *infra* and in the caption of the case, Sayed's correct name was not clear to MECO before it filed the Complaint. The affidavit of MECO's former counsel, Brad Brodie, details MECO's efforts to properly identify Sayed. During litigation, Sayed testified that his legal name is "Arshed Sayed" though he goes by "Alex." (R. p. 234.)

MECO filed its Complaint on August 23, 2022, alleging claims for breach of contract, quantum meruit, and promissory estoppel. Respondents moved for summary judgment, arguing that MECO's claims were time-barred. The trial court heard argument from counsel and entered a Form 4 Order granting summary judgment on November 2, 2023. Later, the court entered a more detailed Order, prepared by Respondents' counsel, dismissing MECO's claims. In granting summary judgment, the trial court found that MECO sent its last invoice under the Contract in February 2019 and demanded all sums due in this lawsuit on August 8, 2019. (See R. pp. 11, 14.)

Because the trial court overlooked evidence that MECO was performing work under the Contract in September 2019, granting summary judgment was error. The trial court also disregarded evidence that the statute of limitations should be tolled because Respondents were absent from the state and could not be located. Lastly, since the Contract price was mostly allocated to purchasing goods the trial court erred by refusing to apply the UCC's six-year statute of limitations.

MECO timely filed its Notice of Appeal on November 7, 2023, and filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on December 4, 2023, following entry of the Court's November 27, 2023 Order. This Amended Initial Brief is timely submitted following this Court's Order granting Respondents' Motion to Strike.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In this case, the trial court granted summary judgment based on its erroneous conclusion that MECO did not initiate this action within the three-year limitation period provided in S.C. Code § 15-3-530. (See R. p. 12.) This Court should reverse because there is, at minimum, a genuine dispute of material fact about whether MECO's Complaint was filed within the limitations period.

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP.” Allwin v. Russ Cooper Associates, Inc., 426 S.C. 1, 11, 825 S.E.2d 707, 712 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 121–22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)). Under South Carolina law, a moving party is entitled to summary judgment “if the evidence before the court shows that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman, 440 S.C. 456, 459, 892 S.E.2d 297, 299 (2023) (internal punctuation omitted) (citing Rule 56(c), SCRCP).

“At the summary judgment stage of litigation, the court does not weigh conflicting evidence with respect to a disputed material fact.” Allwin, 426 S.C. at 11, 825 S.E.2d at 712 (citing S.C. Prop. & Cas. Guar. Ass'n v. Yensen, 345 S.C. 512, 518, 548 S.E.2d 880, 883 (Ct. App. 2001)). “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr., Inc., 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994) (internal citation omitted). Thus, “[s]ummary judgment is not appropriate when further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify the application of law.” McKnight v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections, 385 S.C. 380, 386 (Ct. App. 2009) .

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves contract and equitable claims. At issue is whether MECO filed its suit within South Carolina’s three-year limitations period. See S.C. Code § 15-3-530. MECO filed its Complaint on August 23, 2022. (R., pp. 17-23.) Because MECO performed work under the

Contract until at least September 2019, its suit was filed within the three-year statute of limitations. In any case, the limitations period should be tolled because Respondents were outside the State and MECO could not determine Sayed's true name or the NEPA entities' location. NEPA Ventures owned the real estate at issue and did business in South Carolina, but failed to properly register with the Secretary of State and did not maintain a registered agent as required by law. The trial court erred by ignoring these facts and dismissing MECO's claims. It also failed to acknowledge that the UCC's six-year statute of limitations should apply, because the price of goods was 2.5 times greater than the price of installation services under the Contract. As explained below, this Court should reverse the erroneous entry of summary judgment and remand this case for a jury trial to resolve the disputed issues of material fact that exist.

1. The Contract, MECO's work, and Respondents' refusal to pay.

MECO is a sales, service, and installation company for petroleum equipment products. (R. p. 241, lines 4-7.) It has offices in Greenville, South Carolina, and in Augusta, Georgia. (See R. pp. 243-244, lines 15-9.)

On or about May 8, 2018, MECO and Sayed entered a written contract for MECO to provide and install fuel tanks, pumps, and associated equipment at the Westar Travel Plaza in Cowpens, South Carolina. (See generally R. pp. 24-30; see also Contract (R. pp. 139-151); R. pp. 245-247.) The initial contract sum was \$378,000.¹⁶ (See R. pp. 139-151.) The cost of equipment under the Contract was \$257,923.61—more than 2.5 times greater than the installation cost of \$99,308.82. (See id.) While Sayed signed the contract with MECO (see id.), NEPA Ventures owned the real estate where the Westar Travel Plaza is located, and NEPA Trading obtained financing to pay MECO for the improvements. (See, e.g., R. pp. 86-87 (email from Patriot Capital to alex@fuelonpa.com, addressed to “Arshed Sayed” and concerning “NEPA Trading &

Investments LLC., DBA Westar Travel Plaza”) & R. pp. 91-93 (email to DHEC referencing replacement of equipment “at the subject NEPA Ventures facility”); R. pp. 63 (“All three entities are either Mr. Sayed or owned by Mr. Sayed.”).)

The price of equipment—approximately \$257,000—was paid up front. (R. pp. 258-259; see also, R. pp. 139-151.) As the job progressed, MECO was to send invoices weekly for the value of materials stored and the value of work completed. (See R. pp. 139-151.) Invoices were to be paid “within 30 days of invoice date or completion of project.” (Id.)

During construction, Sayed requested that MECO perform additional work at Westar that was not covered under the Contract. (R. pp. 260-262 (describing various work MECO performed and accompanying invoices that were unrelated to the Contract).) This included (1) adding upgrade kits for gas-side dispensers; (2) a piping job to connect front diesel pumps directly to diesel tanks; and (3) a concrete repair job—using change orders. (R. pp. 250-252, p. 259, lines 9–17.) As would be expected, extra work and other factors like weather and holidays impacted the time required to complete performance under the Contract. (R. pp. 250-253.) Sayed was dissatisfied with delays and claimed he could withhold payment to MECO under the Contract as a result. (See, e.g., R. pp. 194-197 (p. 194) (“i think u r over reacting, till date the job u had undertaken is incomplete.”); R. p. 36, ¶¶ 55-58 (claiming that MECO breached the Contract by failing to timely perform work before Defendants’ refusal to pay).)

By September 12, 2019, Sayed was refusing to authorize his financing company to pay MECO, claiming MECO’s work was not complete. (See R. pp. 270-271 (explaining that Sayed would not authorize payment of remaining contract balance in September 2019, because “the job was not up to satisfaction”).) At bottom, Sayed refused to pay MECO when he did not believe that MECO had performed under the contract. (Id.; see also R. p. 36, ¶¶ 55-58.)

In moving for summary judgment, Respondents relied on an August 7, 2019 email and spreadsheet from MECO President Brad Burke to Sayed, outlining the amounts MECO claimed Sayed owed at that time. (See R. pp. 225-226; R. p. 196; see also R. p. 76, ¶¶ 15-18 & R. pp. 119-121.) They argued that since Burke believed MECO should have been paid by August 8, 2019, the statute of limitations began to run on that date. (See id.) But Sayed contended *on the same date* that MECO's work was incomplete, and that no final payment was owed until the work was done. (See R. p. 194. ("i think u r over reacting, till date the job u had undertaken is incomplete.")) In fact, Sayed maintains that MECO "fail[ed] to fully perform the work under the Contract." (R. p. 36, ¶ 55.)

Aware of Sayed's position and still not having been paid in full, MECO continued to perform work under the Contract into September 2019 to leave no doubt that the balance was owed because the job was, in fact, complete. (See, e.g., R. pp. 266-267, lines 14-1.) For instance, MECO issued Invoice Nos. 27487 & 27488 on September 26, 2019, for work it performed that day or in the few days before. (See, e.g., R. pp. 154-155.) Also, MECO received a notice issued by South Carolina DHEC on September 11, 2019, identifying problems with the fuel equipment discovered in an inspection at the Westar Travel Plaza. (R. pp. 268-270.) Though MECO pointed out that some issues noted in DHEC's inspection were not its responsibility, some were related to MECO's work under the Contract and, as to those issues, MECO "went back out there and fixed it." (Id.) MECO's work to fix those issues must have been performed after DHEC issued notice on September 11, 2019. Moreover, considering Sayed's contention that final payment was not owed until the work was complete (see, e.g., R. pp. 194-197), MECO's claims could not have arisen (and the statute of limitations accrued) until after that date in September 2019.

In its Notice of Mechanic's Lien filed in December 2019, MECO asserted that it performed work under the Contract until at least September 21, 2019. (See R. p. 177.) Evidence available to the trial court—but that has been stricken from inclusion in the record on appeal—also showed that MECO addressed work orders at the property as late as November 19, 2019. And Sayed testified that work performed in November 2019 was not warranty work, but work required for MECO to complete its performance under the Contract and that he never breached the contract because MECO did not complete its work.³

In other words, construed in MECO's favor, the evidence shows that MECO continued working and did not substantially complete its performance under the Contract until September, or as late as November 2019. MECO's Complaint, filed on August 23, 2022, was well within the three-year limitations period. The trial court simply failed to recognize that this evidence created a genuine issue of material fact. The trial court's order granting summary judgment was erroneous and should be reversed.

2. Sayed and the NEPA entities' absence from the State equitably tolled the limitations period.

Neither Sayed nor the NEPA entities are South Carolina residents, and the NEPA entities have never registered to do business in South Carolina. (See generally R. pp. 152-153 ("Brodie Aff."); R. pp. 200 & 201; see also R. pp. 157-160.) All are Pennsylvania residents. (R. p. 235, lines 20-21.)

Despite his correct first name being Arshed, Sayed goes by the name "Alex." (R. p. 234, lines 6-12.) He has several apparent aliases, at least one of which was used in another legal

³ Any deposition excerpts that were not filed in the trial court have been stricken from Appellant's Designation of Matter here, even though the "court may consider unfiled depositions when portions of the deposition were presented at the hearing." Alston v. Blue Ridge Transfer Co., 308 S.C. 292, 294–95, 417 S.E.2d 631, 633 (Ct. App. 1992). At minimum, this is a case where "[s]ummary judgment is not appropriate" because "further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify the application of law." McKnight, 385 S.C. at 386.

proceeding. (See R. pp. 152-153; see also R. p. 160 (Case No. 2018CV4210109141 reflecting last name “Sayedtol”), R. pp. 168 & 169 (Mortgage from NEPA Ventures stating name “Arshad Sayed”) & R. p. 176 (Aff. of Service of Not. of Mech. Lien reflecting name “Alex Sod”).) Sayed’s multiple aliases and residence outside of South Carolina hampered MECO’s former attorney, Brad Brodie (“Brodie”)’s, ability to locate him. Beginning in September 2019, Brodie attempted to determine Sayed’s legal name for a potential lawsuit but was unable to reliably do so. (See R. pp. 152-153.) Brodie instead discovered multiple aliases for Sayed, noted above. In fact, Brodie remains unsure of Sayed’s correct legal name. (See id.)

As to NEPA Ventures and NEPA Trading, neither has ever registered to do business with the South Carolina Secretary of State or maintained a registered agent for service in South Carolina. (See R. pp. 152-153; see also R. pp. 156-160 (Screenshots from Sec. of State Search for NEPA Defendants).) Notwithstanding Sayed’s naked assertion that NEPA Ventures properly registered with the Secretary of State, certificates from the Secretary of State confirm beyond dispute that neither of the NEPA entities were properly registered even though both did business here. (R. pp. 200 & 201.) Because Respondents were absent from South Carolina and not properly identified as required by law, the statute of limitations for MECO’s claims against them should be tolled.

ARGUMENT & CITATION OF AUTHORITY

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Respondents. MECO’s Complaint was filed less than three years after MECO’s causes of action accrued and was, therefore, timely. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) provides that contract actions must be commenced within three years. MECO filed its Complaint on August 23, 2022, so the dispositive issue in this case is whether MECO’s claim accrued on or after August 23, 2019. “[A] breach of contract action

accrues not on the date of the breach, but rather on the date the aggrieved party either discovered the breach, or could or should have discovered the breach through the exercise of reasonable diligence.” Maier v. Tietex Corp., 331 S.C. 371, 377, 500 S.E.2d 204, 207 (Ct. App. 1998) (citation omitted))

Determining when an action accrues is ordinarily a question of fact. See Logan v. Cherokee Landscaping & Grading Co., 389 S.C. 611, 618, 698 S.E.2d 879, 883 (Ct. App. 2010) (citation omitted) (“If there is conflicting evidence as to whether a claimant knew or should have known he or she had a cause of action, the question is one for the jury.”); Johnston v. Bowen, 313 S.C. 61, 64, 437 S.E.2d 45, 47 (1993) (citation omitted) (“Whether a claimant knew or should have known that they had a cause of action is question for the jury.”) Because the trial court overlooked or ignored evidence that MECO’s claims accrued after August 23, 2019, it erroneously granted summary judgment to Respondents even though the statute of limitations had not expired when MECO filed suit.

1. MECO’s Complaint was timely because its cause(s) of action accrued less than three years before the Complaint was filed.

Here, the trial court’s November 27, 2023 Order found that MECO’s claims accrued no later than August 8, 2019. (See R. pp. 9-11.) The trial court held that MECO filed its suit “more than three years after it sent its final invoice on the contract and more than three years after demanding payment for all sums due in this lawsuit,” which occurred in February 2019 and on August 8, 2019, respectively. (See R. p. 11.) These factual findings overlook or ignore record evidence tending to show that MECO’s cause of action accrued in September or November 2019.

First, the Contract, by its terms, provides that invoices are due either 30 days after issuance, or upon completion of the project. Thus, a jury could determine that MECO could only legitimately demand payment once the Contract was complete.

Sayed essentially claims MECO could/should have sued him any time he refused to pay. Of course, this contradicts the position Sayed took during the parties' course of dealing. (See R. pp. 270-271 (explaining that Sayed would not authorize payment of remaining contract balance in September 2019, because "the job was not up to satisfaction"); R. p. 194 ("i think u r over reacting, till date the job u had undertaken is incomplete."); R. p. 36 ¶¶ 55 (claiming that MECO breached the Contract by "failing to fully perform the work under the Contract").)

In any case, MECO's August 8, 2019 demand for payment is not dispositive. The general rule is that "one who seeks to recover damages for breach of a contract must demonstrate that he has performed his part of the contract." Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC, 414 S.C. 635, 652, 780 S.E.2d 263, 272–73 (Ct. App. 2015). In other words, MECO's breach of contract claims could not accrue until MECO finished its own work under the Contract.

Respondents have the burden of proving their statute of limitations defense. See, e.g., Gattis v. Chavez, 413 F. Supp. 33, 35 (D.S.C. 1976). Because they pleaded that MECO "fail[ed] to fully perform the work under the Contract," (R. p. 36 ¶ 55), Respondents have admitted that the statute of limitation did not begin to run on MECO's breach of contract claims. See Hamilton v. Reg'l Med. Ctr., 440 S.C. 605, 636, 891 S.E.2d 682, 699 (Ct. App. 2023), reh'g denied (Sept. 21, 2023) ("[j]udicial admissions ... 'are "not evidence at all but rather have the effect of withdrawing a fact from contention."'). In any case, construing all facts and inferences in MECO's favor, a jury could find that MECO's cause of action did not accrue until at least September 2019 when, evidence shows, MECO was still performing under the Contract.

It is error to rely only on a portion of a plaintiff's testimony—to the exclusion of other evidence—in fixing the limitation accrual date, as the trial court did here. The Court of Appeals' decision in McAlhany v. Carter, 415 S.C. 54, 781 S.E.2d 105 (Ct. App. 2015), aff'd, 2016-000405,

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