RECEIVED

Aug 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-42-03123
Appellate Case No. 2023-001752

MECO, Inc. of Augusta.....
Appellant,

v.

Alex Sayed a/k/a Arshad M. Sayed a/k/a Arshed Sayed; NEPA Ventures LLC; NEPA Trading &
Investments, LLC.....
Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Zachary A. Turner

Adam C. Bach (#74885)

Zachary A. Turner (#105187)

TONNSEN BACH, LLC

1306 South Church Street

Greenville, SC 29605

Telephone: (864) 236-5013

Facsimile: (864) 312-4191

abach@tonnsenbach.com

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

ARGUMENT

With respect to the Appellant’s claims against Respondents, the instant appeal presents the following questions: (i) whether the lower court correctly determined that the applicable statute of limitations bars Appellant’s three claims against Respondents for breach of contract, quantum meruit, and promissory estoppel (ii) whether the Appellant’s argument for equitable tolling the

applicable statute of limitations period was preserved for appeal; and (iii) whether the lower court correctly determined that the Contract was not controlled by the UCC.

I. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BARS APPELLANT’S CLAIMS AGAINST RESPONDENT FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, QUANTUM MERUIT AND PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL

Appellant’s causes of action arise out of either an express contract (breach of contract) or an implied contract (quantum meruit and promissory estoppel), and a 3-year statute of limitations governs. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) (breach of contract), see also Wells Fargo Bank v. Carter, Co. CV 9:14-127-SC, 2014 WL 11034776, at *2 (D.S.C. July 22, 2014) (noting that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530’s three-year statute of limitations applies for unjust enrichment and quantum meruit).

A. The Lower Court Correctly Held that More than Three Years had Passed since Appellant’s Causes of Action Accrued

A statute of limitations reduces the interval between the accrual and commencement of a right of action to a fixed period, thereby putting to rest claims after the passage of time. See 51 Am.Jur.2d Limitations on Actions 15 (1970); Nowlin v. General Tel. Co., 310 S.C. 183, 426 S.E.2d 114 (Ct. App. 1992), *aff’d*, 314 S.C. 352, 444 S.E.2d 508 (1994). Unless an action is commenced before expiration of the limitations period, the plaintiff’s claim is normally barred. See McLain v. Ingram, 314 S.C. 359, 444 S.E.2d 512 (1994). “[S]tatutes are designed to promote justice by forcing parties to pursue a case in a timely manner. Parties should act before memories dim, evidence grows stale or becomes nonexistent, or other people act in reliance on what they believe is a settled state of public affairs.” State ex rel. Condon v. City of Columbia, 339 S.C. 8, 19, 528 S.E.2d 408, 413–14 (2000).

In South Carolina, an action is barred unless it is “commenced” within the period set forth in statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-20(a). In order to commence a civil action, the action must be

filed and served either within the applicable statute of limitations or 120 days after the statute of limitations expires. Rule 3, SCRCPP; see also S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-20(b). South Carolina's statute of limitations requires "very little to start the clock." Maier v. Tietex Corp., 331 S.C. 371, 380, 500 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 1998). "The fundamental test for determining whether a cause of action has accrued is whether the party asserting the claim can maintain [a cause of] action to enforce it." Matthews v. City of Greenwood, 305 S.C. 267, 269, 407 S.E.2d 668, 669 (Ct. App. 1991). South Carolina applies the discovery rule to breach of contract actions, which provides that an action accrues on the date the aggrieved party either discovered or could or should have discovered the breach through exercise of reasonable diligence. Maier, 331 S.C. at 376-377, 500 S.E.2d at 207 (Ct. App. 1998). See also Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1999) ("According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run... from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct."); State v. McClinton, 369, S.C. 167, 173, 631 S.E.2d 895, 898 (2006) (a breach of contract action generally accrues at the time the contract is breached).

Here, the Appellant failed to "commence" any action against Respondents within the 3-year statute of limitations. Pursuant to the Contract, payment was net 30, meaning that Respondents were required to make payment on each invoice thirty (30) days after it was submitted. The trial court held that Appellant filed its suit "more than three years after it sent its final invoice on the contract and more than three years after demanding payment for all sums due in this lawsuit," which occurred on February 15, 2019, and on August 8, 2019, respectively. See R. p. 11. Appellant's counsel agreed, "Mr. Burke did testify that he was ready to move in early August 2019." See R. p. 230, lines 21-22.

Appellant argues that two service work invoices from September 26, 2019, for subsequent work push back the accrual date on all prior invoices. Appellant concedes, however, that it was “aware of Sayed’s position” that he owed no further sums on the Contract before sending these invoices which are dated after Appellant threatened legal action for breach of contract if all prior invoices were not paid. See Appellant’s Amended Initial Brief p. 10. A party cannot revive the statute of limitations for past due invoices by sending new invoices for minor remedial work performed after the Contract was breached.

There are two ways to revive a time-barred claim for breach of contract, neither of which apply here. First, a claim can be revived by a “new promise to pay the debt.” Cross v. Stackhouse, 212 S.C. 100, 46 S.E.2d 668, 670 (1948). Appellant testified at length that it has not spoken to Respondents since around the time of the August 7, 2019 email and that conversation ended without any promise by Respondents to pay the debt. Second, a claim can be revived by partial payment on the debt. Zaks v. Elliot, 106 F.2d 425, 427 (4th Cir. 1939)(applying South Carolina law). Here, Appellant confirmed it has not received any payment on the debt since February 2019. See R. p. 264, lines 6-25; see also R. p. 265, lines 1-8.

Appellant also contends that a jury could determine that it could only demand payment once the Contract was complete by citing to Respondents’ counterclaim that Appellant’s work was incomplete and to testimony and evidence that this Court struck from the record on appeal.² South Carolina’s discovery rule accrues on the date that the *aggrieved party* discovered the breach. Maher, 331 S.C. at 376-377, 500 S.E.2d at 207 (Ct. App. 1998) (emphasis added). Appellant does

² Appellant defies this Court’s March 28, 2024, Order by continuing to cite to evidence of future work orders and testimony of Respondent Sayed which had been stricken from inclusion in the record on appeal because it was not presented to the lower court. See Appellant’s Amended Initial Brief p. 11 & fn. 3; see also Order filed March 28, 2024.

not dispute the Spreadsheet demands payment and threatens legal action for amounts that were “months and months and months past due” and owing as of August 8, 2019. See Appellant’s Amended Initial Brief p. 14; see R. p. 264, lines 6-25; see also R. p. 265, lines 1-8. Appellant cannot deny that they knew Respondent owed a legally enforceable debt as of that date.

Appellant’s position – that a jury “could” determine no sums were due until the work was complete - is an effort by Appellant to save a time barred action. Appellant would have certainly been surprised to learn in 2019 that not only were no sums due as of August 8, 2019, all sums already paid by Respondents were premature and should be refunded. The absurdity of this position can be illustrated by considering what accepting it would mean for this entire lawsuit. Respondents’ position remains that Appellant did not properly complete its work. Thus, according to the interpretation of the Contract that Appellant is using for the purpose of appeal, this means no sums are due yet. But if no sums are due yet, the lawsuit is frivolous and should be dismissed. Said differently, accepting Appellant’s argument that it could only demand payment at the Contract’s completion, means that all of Appellant’s invoices prior to August 8, 2019, including all invoices for which it was paid, were improperly submitted. Appellant’s brand-new position for purposes of appeal contradicts its own conduct as it regularly submitted invoices as the project progressed and expected payment within 30 days of each invoice, as evidenced by payment and demands for payment.

In sum, Appellant requested payment for the completion of its work on February 13, 2019, it threatened Respondents with legal action on August 7, 2019, it claimed amounts owed as of August 8, 2019 were “month and months past due,” and it still chose to wait more than three years after all of these dates to commence an action. See R. pp. 85-93; see R. pp. 193-197; see also R. pp. 120-121. The trial court correctly determined that Appellant’s lawsuit is time barred.

II. EQUITABLE TOLLING DOES NOT APPLY

A. Appellant Failed to Preserve Their Arguments as to Equitable Tolling

Having disposed of the claims against Respondents as untimely under the statute of limitations, the Order makes no mention of Appellant's claims for equitable tolling. See R. pp. 8-16. Appellant dedicates pages 17-20 of their amended initial brief to issues that were never decided by the lower court – namely Respondents absences from South Carolina and whether this tolled the applicable limitations period. The Order neither makes a ruling nor does it undertake any analysis of whether Respondents' absence from South Carolina support equitable tolling of the applicable statute of limitations. See R. pp. 8-16. Appellant opted to forgo a motion under Rule 59(e) and instead filed the instant notice of appeal the same day as the court's Form 4 Order.

South Carolina's appellate courts, with very limited exceptions, have "consistently refused to apply the plain error rule. ... Instead, it is the responsibility of trial counsel to preserve issues for appellate review." Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 306-07, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997)(citation omitted). A party must raise his issues and arguments in the trial court and obtain a ruling. When a party raises an issue and the judge does not rule on it, the party must file a Rule 59(e), SCRCp, motion in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. See, e.g. I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 421, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (noting the "important principle that all parties should raise all necessary issues and arguments to the lower court and attempt to obtain a ruling"); Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review."); Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 43, 492 S.E.2d 55, 58 (1997) (where trial judge did not rule on issue at trial and party did not make Rule 59(e) motion for a ruling, issue is not preserved for review); Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on

appeal shall not include matter which was not presented to lower court). Appellant did not seek a ruling from the trial court on its claims of equitable tolling and these arguments are not preserved.

B. Equitable Tolling does not Apply

In the event that this Court finds Appellant preserved the issue of equitable tolling for appeal, the lower court was correct in its finding that Appellant's claims against Respondents be dismissed.

While South Carolina law provides for tolling of the limitations period where a party is located out of state in some circumstances, our Supreme Court explained the "tolling statute is inapplicable when the nonresident defendant is amenable to personal service of process and the defendant can be brought within the personal jurisdiction of our courts." Meyer v. Paschal, 330 SC 175, 184, 498 S.E.2d 635, 639 (1998) (limiting its holding to situations in which the name and location of the defendant is known to the plaintiff). In Tiralango v. Balry, the Court construed the language "known to the plaintiff" in Meyer as requiring "an objective test of knowledge, i.e., the statute is tolled when the plaintiff did not, and could not reasonably have known the whereabouts of the defendant." Tiralango v. Balfry, 335 S.C. 359, 363, 517 S.E.2d 430, 432 (1999).

Here, there can be no dispute that Appellant knew the whereabouts of the Respondents. Appellant provided detailed testimony that it communicated with Respondents for more than a year without difficulty and sent invoices to Respondents without issue. See R. p. 264, lines 6-25; see R. p. 265, lines 1-8; see also R. p. 271, lines 11-23. Appellant attempts to rely on an affidavit submitted by its prior counsel six (6) days before the hearing on Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment to contradict the sworn testimony of its 30(b)(6) designee, Appellant's CEO William Bradley Burke. See R. pp. 152-153. Our courts have held that they may disregard a subsequent affidavit as a "sham," that is, as not creating an issue of fact for purposes of summary

judgment when the subsequent affidavit contradicts that party's own prior sworn testimony. Cothran v. Brown, 357 S.C. 210, 218, 592 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2004).

Appellant did not claim an inability to locate Respondents until confronted with the fact its claims are time barred due to its own lack of diligence. Appellant then relies on arguments which are directly contradicted by the record. For example, Appellant argues that it could not serve Alex Sayed because they did not know his "real" name. Appellant executed the Contract with Respondent Sayed, who signed his real name in his individual capacity. See R. pp. 78-84. Also, in a February 13, 2019, email from Patriot Capital³ to Respondent Sayed and Appellant for release of payment to Appellant, Patriot Capital begins its email with "Hello Arshed Sayed." See R. p. 86. Typical of many individuals who have a seemingly foreign name in America, Respondent Sayed shortened his name to Alex for convenience.

Further, Appellant sent invoices to Respondent Sayed's home address in Pennsylvania on April 18, 2019. See R. pp. 111-112, 114. The address on these invoices was the correct home address for Respondent Sayed as of the date the Contract was signed and until he moved in February 2020. Thus, Appellant knew both Sayed's real name and his home address years before it allowed the statute to lapse. This information is more than many litigants have when they file suit in South Carolina courts.

Appellant also argues that NEPA Ventures was the owner of the property and, because it was not registered in South Carolina, it could not have known who NEPA Ventures was. Appellant's claim is false as shown by a mechanics lien it filed on the Property on December 18, 2019. See R. pp. 176-181. This mechanics lien correctly identified the owner of the property, NEPA Ventures, as a Pennsylvania Limited Liability Company. NEPA Ventures is registered

³ Patriot Capital was the investment company responsible for distributing the payments for this Project.

through the Pennsylvania Security of State. Appellant knew exactly who NEPA Ventures was and could easily determine where it was located.

In the alternative, accepting Appellant's argument, S.C. Code Ann § 15-9-245 provides that the Secretary of State is designated as NEPA Ventures' agent upon whom process against it may be served in any action or proceeding arising in any court in South Carolina. Thus, if Appellant truly was confused, it could have served NEPA Ventures through the Secretary of State.

Finally, Appellant claims it did not know the identity of NEPA Trading & Investments, LLC. Appellant's claim is again belied by the record. In the February 13, 2019, email from Patriot Capital, the subject line is listed as "NEPA Trading & Investments LLC, DBA Westar Travel Plaza – Final Deposit." See R. p. 86. Appellant is copied on the email. Appellant also emailed its Spreadsheet of invoices to Respondent Sayed back on August 7, 2019. See R. p. 196. Within Appellant's Spreadsheet are invoices under the header of "Customer:Job" for "WESTAR TRUCK PLAZA: NEPA TRADING & INVESTMENTS" dated as early as June 21, 2018. See R. pp. 120-121. And again, if Appellant truly was confused, it could have served its lawsuit on the Secretary of State. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-245 (2023).

Finally, even if one were to ignore the evidence that Appellant possessed sufficient information to serve Respondents, Appellant offers no excuse for their three-year delay in filing a lawsuit. Appellant has never explained why it properly filed and served a mechanics lien months after demanding payment on past due invoices but then waited more than three years to file a lawsuit. If Appellant's arguments were sincere, one would assume Appellant would have filed its lawsuit well within the statute of limitations but then been delayed as it searched for the location of the Respondents for service. Instead, neither filing nor service occurred within the statute of

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